S190581 S

In the Supreme Court

OF THE

State of California

RIVERISLAND COLD STORAGE, INC., LANCE WORKMAN, PAM WORKMAN, LAURENCE A. WORKMAN, CAROLE WORKMAN and WORKMAN FAMILY LIVING TRUST,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

VS.

FRESNO-MADERA PRODUCTION CREDIT ASSOCIATION,

Defendant/Respondent

SUPREME COURT After Rehearing Denied and After the Published Opinion In the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District 5th Civil No. F058434 FEB 1 5 2011

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Scott J. Ivy-No. 197681 LANG, RICHERT & PATCH 5200 North Palm Avenue Fourth Floor P.O Box 40012 Fresno, California 93755-0012 Telephone: (559) 228-6700 (559) 228-6727 Fax:

SUMMARY OF THIS PETITION

As is shown by this Petition for Review, this Court's seminal opinion on the application of the "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule, Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association v. Pendergrass (1935) 4 Cal.2d 258 ("Pendergrass"), has been effectively overruled as a consequence of a succession of subsequent decisions by the Courts of Appeal in some Appellate Districts, culminating in the decision of the Fifth Appellate District in RiverIsland Cold Storage, Inc. v Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 611 (Opn. filed 1/3/11 [Attachment "A" hereto]), from which this Petition is taken. Because the decisions that disregard Pendergrass conflict with other subsequent decisions on the same issue by the Courts of Appeal in other Appellate Districts, this Petition presents both an important question of law and a conflict among the Courts of Appeal -- and thus a lack of uniformity -- in the application of the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

In *Pendergrass*, this Court held that parol evidence of fraud offered to prove the invalidity of an instrument is admissible only if it tends "to establish some independent fact or representation, some fraud in the procurement of the instrument or some breach of confidence concerning its use, <u>and not a promise directly at variance with the promise in the writing.</u>" (*Pendergrass, supra*, 4 Cal.2d at 263.) According to this Court, the fraud exception to the parol evidence

rule <u>does not encompass oral promises that contradict the terms of a written</u> <u>agreement</u> because "[s]uch a principle would nullify the rule: for conceding that such an agreement is proved, or any other contradicting the written instrument, the party seeking to enforce the written agreement according to its terms would always be guilty of fraud." (*Ibid.*) This Court thus found that parol evidence of a creditor's alleged fraudulent representation to the debtor, made before the debtor executed a demand note, that the creditor would "extend" or "postpone" all payments on the note for one year was inadmissible because the representation was "in direct contravention of the unconditional promise contained in the note to pay the money on demand." (*Ibid.*)

In 2004, this Court, in *Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 336 ("*Casa Herrera*"), unambiguously reaffirmed *Pendergrass*, stating that "the parol evidence rule, as a practical matter, provides 'absolute protection from liability' for prior or contemporaneous <u>statements</u> at variance with the terms of a written integrated agreement." (*Id.* at 347, fn. omitted, emphasis added.)

In the 75 years since *Pendergrass*, the Courts of Appeal have struggled to apply *Pendergrass* in a myriad of factual settings. Most courts have accepted, although some begrudgingly, the seemingly straightforward principle laid out in *Pendergrass* and reaffirmed in *Casa Herrera*, that, if the alleged pre-execution oral statement conflicts with the terms of the written agreement, the statement does not fall within the fraud exception. (See, e.g., *Bank of America v. Lamb Finance Co.* (1960) 179 Cal.App.2d 498; *Price v. Wells Fargo Bank* (1989)

213 Cal.App.3d 465; West v. Henderson (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 1578; Banco Do Brasil, S.A. v. Latian, Inc. (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 973; Wang v. Massey Chevrolet (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 856.)

However, other courts, notwithstanding the clarity of *Pendergrass* and *Casa Herrera*, have created and then applied a distinction between a statement described as a "false promise" and a statement described as a "misrepresentation of fact," and have found the former to be inadmissible and the latter to be admissible. (See *Continental Airlines, Inc. v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.* (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 375 ("*Continental Airlines*").) Still another has put a temporal gloss on the "misrepresentation of fact" exception by making admissible only "misrepresentations of fact over the content of an agreement <u>at the time of signing.</u>" (*Pacific State Bank v. Greene* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 375, 392, 394, 396 ("*Greene*"); emphasis added.)

In *RiverIsland*, the Fifth District adopted the *Greene* distinction between "false promises" statements and "misrepresentations of fact" statements as the test of admissibility but expanded the temporal reach of the latter by holding that the "misrepresentation of fact" exception to the parol evidence rule encompasses <u>any</u> "false <u>statement</u> about the terms contained in the contract" made "after the written contract was prepared." (Opn. at 16.)

This Court has previously described much of the post-*Pendergrass* appellate history of the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule as "judicial confusion," a "confusion" that has spawned appellate decisions which conflict

between appellate districts. (Bank of America v. Lamb Finance Co., supra, 179 Cal.App.2d 498; Wang v. Massey Chevrolet, supra, 97 Cal.App.4th 856; and Greene, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th 375), within a single district (West v. Henderson, supra, 227 Cal.App.3d 1578 and Greene, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th 375) and even within itself (Continental Airlines, supra, 216 Cal.App.3d 388.) The instant decision of the Fifth District in RiverIsland comes full circle because RiverIsland simply does away with Pendergrass, and with it, Casa Herrera.

This Court has never spoken on the differentiation between preexecution "promise" statements and pre-execution "misrepresentations of fact" statements as the test of admissibility. *RiverIsland* thus squarely presents this Court with the opportunity to address that issue, an issue it could not reach in *Casa Herrera*. (*Casa Herrera*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th at 346, n.6.)

The line drawn by *Continental Airlines*, *Greene*, and *RiverIsland* between a pre-execution "false promise" <u>statement</u> and a pre-execution "misrepresentation of fact" <u>statement</u>, regardless of the precise time when the <u>statement</u> is made, is entirely inconsistent with *Pendergrass* and *Casa Herrera* and nullifies the foundational principle that "the parol evidence rule . . . provides 'absolute protection from liability' for <u>prior or contemporaneous statements</u> at variance with the terms of a written integrated agreement." (*Casa Herrera*, *supra*,

32 Cal.4th at 347, fn. omitted, emphasis added.)¹ The distinction has led to unpredictable, confusing and divergent results in the Courts of Appeal and allows the party against whom the contract is sought to be enforced not only to purposely avoid reading the contract but also to unilaterally prevent application of the parol evidence rule by culpable falsehood or innocent failure of precise recollection.

Application of the parol evidence rule should not be governed by the pre-contract phraseology of a statement made by a contracting party, or the time the statement is uttered, such that the pre-execution statement "the agreement will contain X term," characterized as a <u>promise of inclusion</u>, invokes the parol evidence rule, but the pre-execution statement "the agreement contains X term," characterized as an <u>assertion of fact</u>, does not.

RiverIsland is the culmination of 75 years of judicial disorder about the proper application of the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule. The decision nullifies *Pendergrass* (and *Casa Herrera* as well), authorizes the fraud exception to swallow up whole the parol evidence rule, and brings about the very policy evil *Pendergrass* sought to escape – the litigation of disputes over contractual terms "armed with an arsenal of tort remedies inappropriate to the

Pendergrass and Casa Herrera were misapplied by Continental, Greene, and RiverIsland because the three cases each overlooked the fundamental, substantive distinction, recognized by this Court in Rosenthal v. Great Western Fin. Securities Corp. (1996) 14 Cal.4th 394, 415, between fraud in the execution of a contract and fraud in the inducement of a contract. The topic is addressed later in this Petition for Review.

resolution of commercial disputes." (Banco Do Brasil, S.A. v. Latian, Inc., supra, 234 Cal.App.3d at 1010.) After RiverIsland, it will be a rare contract dispute in any commercial context that is not susceptible of being turned into a tort case, complete with prayers for punitive damages and immune from attack on a motion for summary judgment.

This Court now has more than enough intermediate appellate decisions, with their varied fact situations and contradictory results, to speak definitively on the topic after granting this Petition for Review. It is well past the time for this Court to step in and clean up the mess that has accumulated around the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule during the past three-quarters of a century and under which *RiverIsland* buried *Pendergrass*.

H.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is this Court's articulation, in *Bank of America v. Pendergrass* and *Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun*, of the scope and application of the "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule still the law in California and, if not, what is the appropriate scope and application of the fraud exception?

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association ("PCA") provided financing to plaintiffs since 2001 through a series of loans secured by real and personal property and personal guarantees. (1 CT 11, 124.) These were

commonly referred to together as the "operating loan," which was due in full on January 1, 2007. (1 CT 124.)

Plaintiffs defaulted on the operating loan. (1 CT 124-125.) Instead of immediately filing a notice of default, PCA entered into a written forbearance agreement with plaintiffs on March 26, 2007. (1 CT 11, 125.) This written forbearance agreement provides that PCA would forbear from collection for approximately 90 days, until July 1, 2007, and plaintiffs would pledge additional collateral to secure the operating loan, including their residence and a truck yard. (1 CT 11, 13, 18.) The forbearance agreement contains an integration clause. (1 CT 16.)

Plaintiffs failed to make the payments required by the forbearance agreement and PCA recorded a notice of default. (1 CT 125.) Plaintiffs later repaid the loan and PCA dismissed its foreclosure proceedings. (1 CT 125.)

Plaintiffs sued PCA in April 2008, claiming they were fraudulently induced into entering into the forbearance agreement and pleading causes of action for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, rescission and reformation. (1 CT 1-37.) Plaintiffs alleged that, two weeks before they signed the forbearance agreement, PCA's senior vice president, David Ylarregui, told them that PCA would agree to forbear from collection for two years if plaintiffs would agree to pledge two orchards as additional security. (1 CT 2:26-3:4.) Plaintiffs also alleged that, before they signed the agreement on March 26, 2007, Ylarregui told them that the agreement was for two years and included only the two orchards as additional

security and not their residence or the truck yard. (1 CT 3:5-11.) Plaintiffs maintained that PCA's fraud and misrepresentations damaged their credit and that PCA's notice of foreclosure interfered with their ability to sell their real property. (1 CT 4:10-14.)

PCA moved for summary judgment. PCA asserted that it was entitled to judgment because plaintiffs failed to perform in accordance with the forbearance agreement and because plaintiffs were barred by the parol evidence rule from presenting evidence of the alleged prior and contemporaneous oral statements by Ylarregui contradicting the terms of the written agreement. (1 CT 46-275.)

In opposition to the motion, plaintiffs presented evidence that Ylarregui told them a couple of weeks before they signed the forbearance agreement, and again at the time of signing, that the agreement was for a period of 2 years and only included two ranches as additional security. (1 CT 303:12-16, 343:1-4, 349, 353-355.) Plaintiffs argued that this evidence was admissible under the "fraud exception" to the parol evidence rule and thus created a triable issue of fact about whether the agreement had been fraudulently induced. Plaintiffs admitted they did not read the agreement before signing it. (1 CT 303:17-23, 343:4-5, 349.)

The trial court ruled that the alleged oral statements did not fall within the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule and were inadmissible under Bank of America National Trust and Savings Assn. v. Pendergrass (1935) 4 Cal.2d

258 and Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun (2004) 32 Cal.4th 336, because the statements were in direct conflict with the plain language of the written forbearance agreement. The trial court therefore found that plaintiffs had failed to raise a triable issue of material fact in opposition to PCA's motion and the court entered judgment in PCA's favor. (2 CT 496-502.) Plaintiffs appealed. (2 CT 515.)

The Court of Appeal reversed. (Jan. 3, 2011 Opn. [Attachment A].) Although the Court expressly found that the forbearance agreement was "integrated" and thus subject to the parol evidence rule (Opn. at 5-6), the Court held that *Pendergrass* intended the limitations on the fraud exception to apply only to instances of "promissory "fraud at variance with a promise in an integrated writing. (Opn. at 17.) The Court of Appeal relied on *Continental Airlines, supra*, 216 Cal.App.3d 375, and *Greene, supra*, 110 Cal.App.4th 375, in concluding that Ylarregui's alleged oral statements, both prior to and at the time of signing, were within the fraud exception because they were "misrepresentations of the content of the written contract" and should have been admitted and considered by the trial court in ruling on PCA's summary judgment motion, and that the motion should have been denied. (Opn. at 17.)

IV.

ARGUMENT

This Court may grant review "to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Review is warranted here for both reasons.

A. REVIEW IS REQUIRED TO RESOLVE A CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION IN THIS CASE AND DECISIONS OF THE SUPREME COURT AND OTHER COURTS OF APPEAL

1. The Parol Evidence Rule, the Statutory "Fraud Exception," and Pendergrass

a. The Parol Evidence Rule

The parol evidence rule, codified in Civil Code section 1625² and Code of Civil Procedure section 1856,³ "generally prohibits the introduction of

² Civil Code section 1625 provides: "The execution of a contract in writing, whether the law requires it to be written or not, supersedes all the negotiations or stipulations concerning its matter which preceded or accompanied the execution of the instrument."

Ode of Civil Procedure section 1856 provides: "(a) Terms set forth in a writing intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein may not be contradicted by evidence of any prior agreement or of a contemporaneous oral agreement. [¶] (b) The terms set forth in a writing described in subdivision (a) may be explained or supplemented by evidence of consistent additional terms unless the writing is intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. [¶] (c) The terms set forth in a writing described in subdivision (a) may be explained or supplemented by course of dealing or usage of trade or by course of performance. [¶] (d) The court shall determine whether the writing is intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement with respect to such terms as are included therein and whether the writing is intended also as a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement. [¶] (e) Where a mistake or imperfection of the writing is put in issue by the pleadings, this section does not exclude [continued]

any extrinsic evidence, whether oral or written, to vary, alter or add to the terms of an integrated written instrument.'" (Casa Herrera, supra, 32 Cal.4th at 343, quoting Alling v. Universal Manufacturing Corp. (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 1412, 1433.)

Although the parol evidence rule results in the exclusion of evidence, it "is not a rule of evidence but is one of substantive law. . . . The rule as applied to contracts is simply that as a matter of substantive law, a certain act, the act of embodying the complete terms of an agreement in a writing (the 'integration'), becomes the contract of the parties. The point then is, not how the agreement is to be proved, because as a matter of law the writing is the agreement." (Casa Herrera, supra, 32 Cal.4th at 343, quoting Estate of Gaines (1940) 15 Cal.2d 255, 264 [emphasis in original].)

The law recognizes an "exception" to the parol evidence rule where the evidence is introduced to show that a contract was procured by fraud. (Code of Civil Procedure section 1856, subdivisions (f) and (g).) Such evidence is not offered to contradict the terms of an integrated agreement but, rather, to show that

evidence relevant to that issue. [¶] (f) Where the validity of the agreement is the fact in dispute, this section does not exclude evidence relevant to that issue. [¶] (g) This section does not exclude other evidence of the circumstances under which the agreement was made or to which it relates, as defined in Section 1860, or to explain an extrinsic ambiguity or otherwise interpret the terms of the agreement, or to establish illegality or fraud. [¶] (h) As used in this section, the term agreement includes deeds and wills, as well as contracts between parties."

the purported agreement is null and void. (Ferguson v. Koch (1928) 204 Cal. 342, 346-347; Edwards v. Centex Real Estate Corp. (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 15, 42.)

b. Pendergrass and Casa Herrera

The controlling California authority on the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule is this Court's 1935 decision in *Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association v. Pendergrass*, supra, 4 Cal.2d 258.

In *Pendergrass*, the plaintiff, Bank of America, brought suit to recover payment on a promissory note. The defendants contended the note was induced by fraud. The note was a demand note for \$4,750 and represented a portion of a previously unsecured debt by the defendants to the bank for a ranch purchase. (Id. at 260.) The defendants attempted at trial to introduce evidence that bank representatives had orally promised the defendants that, if they executed the note and mortgage, they would not be required to make any payments on the indebtedness until the 1932 crop was in and also that the bank would let them "go ahead and operate and produce" the 1932 crop. (Id. at 261.) While this language came from counsel for the defendants' opening oral presentation, the defendants' written pleading alleged that the bank had promised to "extend" or "postpone" all payments for one year. (Id. at 263.) The defendants claimed these statements by the bank representatives were made without any intention to perform and were fraudulently made for the purpose of inducing the defendants to sign the note and mortgage. (Id. at 261.) The trial court directed judgment for the bank at the conclusion of defense counsel's opening statement. (*Id.* at 259.)

On the defendants' appeal from the judgment, this Court reversed on grounds not implicating the parol evidence rule. However, because the case would be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings, this Court specifically addressed the question whether parol evidence of the bank's alleged promises about extending or postponing note payments for one year – promises "in direct contravention of the unconditional promise contained in the note to pay the money on demand" – was admissible to prove the defendants' fraud defense. This Court unhesitatingly held that the evidence was not admissible: "Our conception of the rule which permits parol evidence of fraud to establish the invalidity of the instrument is that it must tend to establish some independent fact or representation, some fraud in the procurement of the instrument or some breach of confidence concerning its use, and not a promise directly at variance with the promise of the writing." (*Pendergrass*, *supra*, 4 Cal.2d at 263.)

Thus, *Pendergrass* stands for the principle that, to come within the fraud exception, the proffered evidence must tend to show (1) an independent fact or representation; or (2) fraud in the procurement of the written agreement; or (3) a breach of confidence concerning use of the written agreement. If the extrinsic evidence does not fit within one of these three categories but instead <u>directly</u> contradicts the writing, the evidence is simply not admissible to undermine the writing. In the Court's view, to allow a writing to be vitiated by parol evidence which contradicts the terms of the writing "would be to open the door to all evils

that the parol evidence rule was designed to prevent.' (Citation omitted.)" (*Id.* at 264.)

Sixty-nine years after *Pendergrass*, and under facts closely analogous to those in *RiverIsland*, this Court, in *Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun*, *supra*, 32 Cal.4th 336, confirmed the continued vitality of *Pendergrass* and implicitly rejected the significance of any perceived distinction between a "promise" and a "misrepresentation of fact" in the application of the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule.

The contract in *Casa Herrera* was for the sale of a tortilla oven. The written terms stated that the oven would produce 1,500 dozen *ten-ounce* tortillas per hour, 1,800 dozen eight-ounce tortillas per hour, and 2,000 dozen six-ounce tortillas per hour. (*Id.* at 340.) The buyer sued for breach of the contract and fraud, claiming that the seller had falsely represented orally that the oven would produce 1,500 dozen *sixteen-ounce* tortillas per hour. (*Id.* at 339.)

This Court made no distinction between the form of the oral statements relied upon by the buyer, applied the parol evidence rule as mandated by *Pendergrass*, and found that the buyer could not recover under either a contract or a fraud theory based upon the seller's alleged oral statements. (*Id.* at 346.) This Court was unequivocal in both its confirmation and its recitation of the rule of *Pendergrass*, explaining that, "despite some criticism, our courts have consistently rejected promissory fraud claims premised on prior or

contemporaneous <u>statements</u> at variance with the terms of a written integrated agreement." (*Id.* at 346. emphasis supplied.)

2. <u>Application of Pendergrass in Subsequent Appellate Cases Has</u> Been Confusing, Inconsistent and Unpredictable

This Court has described the post-*Pendergrass* history of the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule as "judicial confusion." (*Casa Herrera, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at 348.) As Petitioner will demonstrate, the "confusion" stems from, first, a perceived but unjustified distinction drawn by some appellate courts between a "misrepresentation of fact" and a "promise," and, second, from the failure of those courts to distinguish between the tort of "fraud in the procurement" of an instrument and the separate tort of "fraud in the inducement" of an instrument. The result has been unpredictable, confusing and inconsistent applications of the parol evidence rule. What one court has found to be an inadmissible "promise," another court has found to be an admissible "misrepresentation of fact."

a. Lamb Finance and West

In Bank of America National Trust & Savings Association v. Lamb Finance Co, supra, 179 Cal.App.2d 498 ("Lamb Finance"), the sole shareholder of the Lamb Finance Company executed a guaranty of a promissory note in favor of the Bank of America. The shareholder alleged she had been assured by the bank that, by signing the guaranty, she would not be personally liable on the note. In fact, the written agreement was to the contrary and allowed the holder of the note to proceed directly against the shareholder in the event of default. (Id. at

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