IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

RIVERISLAND COLD STORAGE,)			
INC., LANCE WORKMAN, PAM)			
WORKMAN, LAURENCE A.)			
WORKMAN, CAROLE WORMAN)			
and WORKMAN FAMILY LIVING) RIVERISLAND COLI	D STORAGE,		
TRUST) INC., LANCE WORK	MAN, PAM		
) WORKMAN, LAURE	NCE A.		
Appellants,) WORKMAN, CAROLE WORMAN			
) and WORKMAN FAM	IILY LIVING		
v.) TRUST ANSWER TO	PETITION FOR		
) REVIEW			
FRESNO-MADERA PRODUCTION)	SUPREME COURT		
CREDIT ASSOCIATION)			
)			
Respondent.)	n 7 - 2011		
	<u></u>	MAR 7 - 2011		
•		Frederick K. Ohlrigh Glerk		
After Rehearing Denie	ed and After the Published Opinion			
	ppeal, Fifth Appellate District ivil No. F045448	Deputy

I. INTRODUCTION

Fresno-Madera Production Credit Association ("Credit Association") has filed the present Petition for review based upon the incorrect position the Fifth Appellate District adoption of an exception to the Parole Evidence Rule that extrinsic evidence of the alleged misrepresentation made by Credit Association's representative should be admitted where the Defendant Representative is alleged to have misrepresented to the Plaintiff the content of a written Forbearance Agreement consistent with the Court ruling on *Pacific State Bank v. Greene* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 375, 385-387, 389 and 390-392 and *Fleury v. Ramacciotti* (1937) 8 Cal.2d 660. In *Greene* Petition for review in the California Supreme Court was previously denied.

In *Greene*, Parole Evidence of fraudulent representations were allowed to be introduced where there was a claim of mis-characterization of the content of the document to be signed which was made at the time of signing. *Green*, at p. 392 and 393. In *Fleury* admissibility of Parole Evidence was allowed to prove fraudulent representations as to the content of a written agreement induced its execution which survived *Pendergrass*.

Neither *RiverIsland, Greene or Fleury* are inconsistent with any other California Supreme Court or Appellate Court decision. Simply, *RiverIsland* has followed the now recognized exception to the Parole Evidence Rule stated in *Fleury and Greene* which allows the introduction of evidence where a Defendant has made a misrepresentation of

fact regarding the content of an agreement to be signed at the time it is executed. This is good law because it prevents a party from taking advantage of another by misrepresenting the content as an inducement the execution of an agreement which has actual content which is different as represented. There is no need for review because there is no need for reconciliation as suggested by Credit Association.

In rending its decision the Fifth Appellate District applied well established law to the particular facts in this case and concluded that the *Pendergrass* Court did not intend its limitation on the fraud exception to the Parole Evidence Rule to extend beyond evidence of promissory fraud where as in the present case, the extrinsic evidence relates to a misrepresentation regarding the content of an agreement at the time of execution.

Despite the straightforward application of existing law, Credit Association seeks Supreme Court review by mischaracterizing the Fifth Appellate District decision manufacturing confusion in existing case law where none exist. Simply, the exception to the Parole Evidence Rule identified in *Greene* now adopted by the Fifth Appellate District does not conflict with either *Pendergrass* (1935) 4 Cal.2d 258 or Casa Herrera, Inc. v. Beydoun (2004) 32 Cal.4th 336 as suggested by Credit Association. The two Appellate Court decisions *Greene* and now RiverIsland are consistent with each other and in fact the Fifth Appellate District adopted the exception to the Parole Evidence in *Greene*. Accordingly, there are no inconsistent Appellate Court issues on this exception to the Parole Evidence Rule and therefore the Petition for review should be denied.

II. FACTS

On July 14, 2003 PCA recorded a notice of additional debt and secured by Deed of Trust regarding outstanding obligation of \$1,050,000.00 which was secured on Lance Workman's real property located in Kings County designated as parcels 1 through 5 and real property located in Tulare County designated as parcels 1 through 5. On December 12, 2003 PCA executed a Deed of Partial Reconveyance which released as security Parcels 1 through 5 in Tulare County (CT 402). As of December 12, 2005 the only real property securing the \$1,050,000.00 loan obligations was the five parcels in Kings County (CT 403, 410-413).

Between the calendar year 2003 and 2006 the projected income for PCA's security interest in receivables and inventory dropped each year (CT 404). The balance due on the operating line was rolled over each year from 2002 through 2006 without obtaining any additional security other than original security consisting of 20 acres including 15 acres of tree fruit and 5 acre truck yard valued at \$215,000.00 from an appraisal in 2002 with a net of \$61,400.00 (CT 404 and 408).

In September of 2006 Workman's cold storage facility was listed for sale with Pearson Realty (CT 362-363). The listing price was determined by Lance Workman and Dan Kevorkian of Pearson Realty in the amount of \$2.5M for the cold storage facility. Dan Kevorkian of Pearson Realty was comfortable with the amount of \$2.5M as the asking price based upon his knowledge of cold storages in the area (CT 363-366).

In November 2006 Lance Workman, had a conversation with David Ylarregui about renewing the operating line of credit. David Ylarregui as he had stated in past years stated in meetings in November 2006 PCA would renew the loan (CT 352).

In March 2007 Lance Workman called David Ylarregui to tell him Workman would be selling the Cold Storage facility to pay the outstanding balance owed to the PCA and that he had been advised by Dan Kevorkian, a manager of Pearson Realty it could take up to two years to sell (CT 353-354). David Ylarregui responded that if Workman needed that kind of time PCA would require him to add additional security. In response Workman offered to put up a 15 and 15 ½ acre ranch (CT 353-354).

Prior to the execution of the Forbearance Agreement and at the time of the execution of the Forbearance Agreement on March 29, 2007 David Ylarregui on behalf of PCA stated the Forbearance Agreement was for a period of 2 years and that the only additional security was the two additional ranches designated as a 15 and 15 ½ acres of orchard in the County of Kings, State of California (CT 349, 353-355, 405-406). Appellant Lance Workman and Pam Workman did not read the Forbearance Agreement prior to signing and relied on the representations made by David Ylarregui at the time of signing the Forbearance Agreement that the content of the Forbearance Agreement they were signing was for a period of 2 years and only contained as additional security a 15 and 15 ½ acre parcels. At the time of the execution of the Forbearance Agreement Lance Workman and Pam Workman were merely told by David Ylarregui to sign at the tabbed

locations of the Agreement. At the time the Forbearance Agreement was signed on March 29, 2007 the six month expiration date on July 1, 2007 was less than 90 days and contained additional security including Workman's residence and cold storage facility (CT 342-343, 349, 355).

PCA did not require Lance Workman to pledge all of his real property as a condition for the Forbearance Agreement (CT 390). On March 29, 2007 the outstanding loan was \$875,306.00 and the security under the loan agreement had a value of \$4,545,050.00 and there was net equity in the property under the security in excess of \$2,506,000.00 (CT 388, 393-399, 409, 414-465).

The cold storage valued at \$2.5M had an equity of more than \$1.4M sufficient to pay off the debt of \$875,306.06 owed to PCA (CT 342). PCA was not under any regulatory time period or any of its written policies or procedures which required it to file a notice of foreclosure when it did (CT 391-392).

III. LEGAL DECISION

I. There Are No Grounds for Supreme Court Review.

Review should be denied for the simple reason this case presents neither an important question of law nor a necessity to secure uniformity of decision. Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.516(a)(1). The Appellate Court cases of *Green* and now *RiverIsland* both are consistent in concluding there is an exception to the Parole Evidence Rule where there is a misrepresentation of fact over the content of an agreement at the time of execution.

II. There is No Conflict to Be Resolved Before Any Decision in This Case and Decision of the Supreme Court and Other Courts of Appeal.

Remarkably Credit Association has failed to cite *Fleury v. Ramacciotti* (1937) 8 Cal.2d 660 decided two years after *Pendergrass* where the California Supreme Court issued its decision Parole Evidence is admissible to prove that fraudulent representations as the content of a written agreement induced its execution. This omission is obvious because it takes the wind out of any Credit Association argument there is any conflict in the California Supreme Court and Appellate Court regarding whether Parole Evidence may be admitted when there are misrepresentations regarding the content of the written agreement. This basic concept was not altered in either *RiverIsland* or *Greene*. In both *RiverIsland* and *Greene* the Court followed this basic principle and stated the exception applies where there were misrepresentations concerning the content of the agreement at the time of execution.

The Third Appellate District in *Greene* limited the exception to the Parole Evidence Rule under *Pendergrass* to a situation involving a mis-characterization of the content of the document to be signed at the time of execution which was more narrow in time and circumstance. *RiverIsland* involved the same situation where there was a mis-characterization as to the content of the document to be signed at the time of execution and similar to *Fleury* misrepresentation regarding the content of the Forbearance Agreement in conjunction with a statement to just sign the agreement at the tabbed locations.

The Fifth Appellate District in its decision recognized misrepresentations of the terms of the written contract in order to induce the other parties to sign it constitutes fraud in the procurement of the instrument which both *Pendergrass and Fleury* recognize as an appropriate circumstance for application of the fraud exception to the Parole Evidence Rule. The Fifth Appellate District like the *Green* Court found Parole Evidence was admissible where a party misrepresented the content of the written contract and thereby induced execution of the agreement.

Accordingly, *Pendergrass* has not been lost in any analysis of the Court ruling of the exceptions to the Parole Evidence Rule in *Greene, Continental Airlines and RiverIsland* because all of these cases are consistent with the California Supreme Court ruling in *Fleury*. *Casa Herrera v. Beydoun* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 336 is materially, factually different from the facts upon which *Fleury, Green and RiverIsland* found an exemption to the Parole Evidence Rule because in *Casa Herrera* there was no allegations that Appellants misrepresented the contents of the written sales agreement at the time the agreement was executed. Similarly, in *West v. Henderson* 227 Cal.App.3d 1578 there was no misrepresentation regarding the content of the subject lease/guarantee at the time of execution.

III. Review is Not Necessary to Revisit Already Established Good Law Regarding an Exception to the Parole Evidence Rule.

In the present case, *Fleury, Greene and RiverIsland* are consistent regarding an exception to the Parole Evidence Rule limited to misrepresentations regarding the content

of the agreement at the time of execution. This is good law to prevent a party, as in this case, Credit Association from taking unfair advantage of misrepresentations by its representative in an effort to enforce an inherently unfair Forbearance Agreement. The statements in the present case are false regarding the content of the Agreement because the agreement had an expiration date less than 90 days from the date of execution of March 27, 2007 and contained additional security on real property and in addition to the 15 and 15 ½ acre orchard including the Workman residence. Credit Association now had real property with potential foreclosure in less than 90 days as security in excess of \$2,506,000.00 including the Workman residence on an outstanding obligation of \$875,000.00 as opposed to the represented term of two years and security in a 15 and 15 ½ acre orchard.

The *Fleury, Greene and RiverIsland* cases establish a well reasoned exception where there is misrepresentation concerning the content of a document at the time of the execution and reasonable reliance.

This exception is good law because it prevents an individual from taking advantage of another, as in this case, when an unsuspecting party executes an agreement based on its representations regarding the content at the time of signing and later finding out the content is misrepresented and unreasonably oppressive. Unless this exception is maintained individuals or entities such as Credit Association may take unfair advantage of an individual who executes an agreement based upon a false representation regarding

the content and later finds out the agreement is misrepresented. The lack of this

exception encourages individuals and business entities to engage in unfair business

practice by misrepresenting the content of a document at the time of signature inducing

an unwary trusting individual to execute it and then hide behind Pendergrass as

suggested by Credit Association.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

The Petition for review should be denied because there is no need to resolve any

conflict in Appellate opinions. The Fifth Appellate District's opinion simply applies well

established law to the particular set of facts in the case. The only confusion and

disagreement is Credit Association alone. None of the criteria for triggering Supreme

Court review is present.